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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF TULSA COUNTY 017952656 8

STATE OF OKLAHOMA
)
SEDRICK COURTNEY, )
Petitioner, )
Fmsif mﬁf 60y TULSA COUNTY
V. . Case No. CF-95-2348
MAR 12 2017 ;
STATE OF OKLAHOMA
i , COURT CLERK
Respondent %ggﬁ%mﬁh&m
)

Petitioner’s Post-Conviction Relief Petition (22 OKl. St. § 1080) and Writ of Habeas Corpus
(12 OKL St. § 1331, Okla. Const. art. 11, § 10) Based On Newly-Discovered Exculpatory,
Non-Matching DNA Evidence

1. Petitioner, Sedrick Courtney, hereby submits his Post-Conviction Relief Petition and
Writ of Habeas Corpus Based On Newly-Discovered Exculpatory, Non-Matching DNA Evidence.
His motion is presented in good faith and premised on the following facts and points of
authority.
2. Couriney stands convicted of the April 6, 1995 armed robbery of Shemita Greer.
a. Two men, who covered their faces with ski masks, kicked in Greer’s apartment
door, attacked her, and robbed her at gunpoint.
b. Greer suffered a traumatic brain injury as a result of the attack.
c. Greer was positive that the taller assailant, who wore the black ski mask, was
Courtney Sedrick. Greer said she reco gnized his voice when he spoke and his skin tone and eyes
when he briefly lifted his black ski mask during the offense.
i. Greer knew Courtney because the two had lived in the same apartment
complex a year before.
ii. Greer also knew Courtney because her and her boyfriend, Travis Chambers,
went on a few double dates with Courtney and his girlfriend before the robbery.
d. Greer said the smaller assailant wore a green ski mask.
e. Crime scene personnel recovered the black and green ski mask outside Greer’s

apartment.



3. Prior to trial, the State recovered several hairs from both the black and green ski masks
and subjected them to DNA testing, but the testing produced no results.

a. Neither the State nor Courtney subjected the hairs to mitochondrial DNA testing
because it was not available at the time of tria] and did not become generally accepted and
routinely used in the scientific community until 1998 and 1999.

4. At trial, the State relied on the hair evidence to secure Courtney’s conviction,

a. The State argued that the hairs from the black ski mask could have come from
Courtney because he could not be eliminated as a donor of the hairs,

b. The green ski mask contained a single bleached red hair that was microscopically
similar to a bleached red hair taken from Courtney’s head hair. The State argued it was very
unlikely that the bleached red hair came from anyone other than Courtney.

5. Courtney challenged and collaterally attacked his conviction, but obtained no relief;

a.In 2000, Courtney’s previous attorney (from the Oklahoma Indigent Defense
System) sought DNA testing on the hairs recovered from both ski masks, but the Tulsa Police
Department (TPD) informed counsel that the haits had been destroyed.

6. In 2001, Courtney contacted the Innocence Project, which officially opened his case in
late 2007. Shortly thereafter, the Innocence Project contacted the TPD, requesting information
regarding the whereabouts of the black and green ski masks as well as the hairs recovered from
the two ski masks.

a. The TPD informed the Innocence Project that the masks and hairs had been
destroyed,

7. In September 2011, the Innocence Project contacted the TPD again to inquire about the
ski masks and hairs, but this time the TPD said it did in fact have custody of the hairs. The TPD
did not have the ski masks,

a. Shortly thereafter, the TPD sent the hairs to Orchid Cellmark (Cellmark) in Dallas,

b. Cellmark subjected the hairs recovered from the black and green ski masks to
mitochondrial DNA testing — a form of IDNA testing not available prior to trial.

¢. The mitochondrial DNA testing excluded Courtney as a donor of ten hairs
recovered from the black ski mask and five hairs recovered from the green ski mask.

i. Nine of the ten hairs from the biack ski mask came from one donor.

ii. Four of the five hairs from the green ski mask came from one donor.




8. Based on these newly-discovered exculpatory DNA results, Courtney respectfully
moves to have his conviction vacated because the DNA results demonstrate that he is actually
innocent (at best) or that this Court can have no confidence in his conviction (at worst).

L Statement of Facts

A. Pre-Trial Events _

9. In Febrnary 1996, a Tulsa Coimty jury convicted Sedrick Courtney of robbery with a
firearm and first-degree burglary for the April 6, 1995 robbery of Shemita Greer. The trial judge
sentenced him to thirty years in prison.

10. According to Greer, around noon time on April 6, 1995, two men wearing ski masks
broke into her apartment by kicking in her front door.

a. The shorter of the two men had on a green ski mask and wielded a gun, while the
taller assailant had on a black ski mask.’

b. The taller man in the black ski mask — who Greer identified as Sedrick Courtney —
was not wearing gloves.”

c. Once inside, they forced her to lie on the floor as they ransacked the apartment.
During the robbery, the two assailants struck Greer in the head, repeatedly kicked her, and
ultimately blindfolded her with duct tape.?

d. Once blindfolded, Greer sajd the taller of the two assailants pistol-whipped her.*

e. Seriously injured and feariﬁg for her life as well as her four-month-old niece’s life,
Greer played dead as the two assailants continued to ransack her apartment.

f. When the two assailants fled Greer’s apartment they took nearly $400 in cash from
her purse, four tires, and four tire rims that belonged to her boyfriend, Travis Chambers.

11. Greer said the incident lasted between five and six minutes.®

12. After checking on her four-month-old niece, Greer called 911 and Tulsa police
officers were dispatched o the scene, After talking with police, Greer was taken to a hospital

where she spent three days recovering from a traumatic brain injury.’
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13. Detective Alvin McDonald arrived at the scene and interviewed Greer who told him
she recognized the taller of the two men wearing the black ski mask as Sedrick Courtney.® She
recognized his voice because she knew Courtney’s girlfriend and her (Greer) and her boyfriend
occasionally went out with Courtney and his girlfriend.” Likewise, when the taller assailant
lifted his black ski mask to cool down, Greer said she saw his eyes, nose, and skin tone and was
positive it was Sedrick Courtney. !

14. Detective Doug Noordyke photographed and processed Greer’s apartment as well as
the area surrounding around her apartment.!

a. Detective Noordkye search for latent fingerprints and lifted one from the stereo
cabinet,'?

b. He also recovered a black ski mask from the sidewalk east of Greer’s apartment
and a green ski mask across the street from her apartment sitting atop the tires stolen during the
robbery."

15. Despite Greer’s positive identification of Courtney on April 6, 1995, the TPD did not
arrest Courtney until June 12, 1995.1* The shorter assailant, who wore the green ski mask was
never identified, arrested, and prosecuted.

16. Although Courtney proclaimed his innocence when arrested, he cooperated with the
TPD by waiving his Miranda rights and voluntarily providing samples of his hair. 13

17. Prior to Courtney’s arrest, the TPD Forensic Laboratory recovered several hairs from
the black and green ski masks.'® !

18. Prior to trial, the TPD Forensic Laboratory sent the hairs to the Oklahoma State
Bureau of Investigation (OSBI) for DNA testing.!”

a. Seven hairs had roots so OSBI subjected the roots to nuclear DNA testing — which

produced inconclusive results.'®

"Ex.2.
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b. OSBI did not perform mitochondrial DNA analysis on the hair shafls because
mitochondrial DNA testing was not available prior to Courtney’s trial in February 1996.

19. Prior to trial, the TPD Forensic Laboratory concluded that Courtney did not leave the
latent fingerprint on the stereo cabinet in Greer’s apartment. '

20. Prior to trial, Carol Cox of the TPD Forensic Laboratory attempted to compare the
hairs lifted from the black and green ski masks to Courtney’s hair samples, but could not make a
comparison because Courtney’s hair samples were too short.?® As a result, she concluded that
the unknown head hears from the black ski mask *“can not [sic] be eliminated as having come
from Cedric [sic] Courtney.”*

21. Cox also recovered a single bleached red hair from the green ski mask that was
microscopically consistent with a bleached red hair taken from Courtney’s head.*

B. Trial

22. Courtney pled not guilty and went to trial.

23. At trial, the State’s case rested primarily on Greer’s identification of Courtney.

a. During direct examination, the prosecutor asked Greer, “Ma’am, do you realize
that this case is largely dependent on your identification of Mr. Courtney today?,” to which
Greer replied, “Yes.” The prosecutor then asked Greer, “Do you know what will happen to
you if this jury believes your identification?,” to which Greer ultimately replied, “I feel like
justice will be served.”*

b. Greer was “positive” that Courtney was the taller of the two assailants who wore
the black ski mask.*

c. Greer also positively identified the black ski mask recovered from outside her
apartment as the black ski mask worn by Courtney.26

d. During closing arguments, the prosecutor urged to jury to find Greer’s
identification reliable.*” The prosecutor: said it was “impossible” that Courtney was not one of

the assaijlants:
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I believe that if you go back there and you consider all that, you’ll find it’s
impossible for that to have been someone other than Sedrick Courtney,
same height, same size, same build. That’s beyond ?ossibility that another
human being could match all of those characteristics.”®

e. The prosecutor also argued: “All we know is that there are two people who entered
that apartment, two people who wore stocking masks. Aﬁd we know that Sedrick Couriney was
one of those two people.””

24. The prosecutor used the hair evidence from the black and green ski masks to bolster
Greer’s identification,

a. During closing arguments, the prosecutor acknowledged that the hair evidence was
critical to the State: “The hair in the stocking mask. Now, this is some key evidence really.”®

b, The State’s hair expert, Carol Cox, said she ;ipuld not exclude Courtney as a donor
of the hairs recovered from the black ski mask.>!

i. Cox, however, undermined Greer’s claim that Courtney was the assailant
wearing the black ski mask when she said she identiﬁecf a single bleached red hair from the
green ski mask that was microscopically consistent with a bleached red head hair recovered from
Courl:ney.“'l 2 :

ii. Realizing Cox’s testimony undermined Greer’s identification, the prosecutor
argued during closing arguments that Greer may have “mixed up” who wore what ski mask:

But the key here that Carol Cox did testify to is she said there was something
unusual [regarding the bleach hair]. In... [the green] mask{] she found a short
bleached red hair, one short bleached red hair among numerous Negroid haits,
okay. And then she testified that she plucked approximately 50 hairs from
Sedrick Couriney’s head, and of those 50 hairs she found one short bleached
red hair, okay.

Now, I think probably the defense is going to point out to you... that she
testified [Greer] testified he was wearing the black stocking mask and that
Carol Cox testified that the red hair was found in the green stocking mask. I
can’t deny that. That’s true. There are numerous explanations for that... It’s
entirely possible that.... She got those two stocking masks mixed up.*

Y 'NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 347-350.

 1d. at 381.

# Id. at 347-48 (emphasis added).

O NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 351 (emphasis added).
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%2 1d. at 188; Ex. 8.
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iil. The prosecutor also suggested that Courtney may have owned both ski
masks or that the unnamed and unidentified co-assailant may have lived with Courtney:

But another very plausible explanation.., is that the person he was with may

have been somebody he lived with, that both stocking masks may have been

[Sedrick Courtney’s]. He may have worn both of those stocking masks on any

number of occasions prior to that day. So there is a lot of reasons why that red

hair may be in the... green stocking mask rather than the black stocking mask.

Again, [Sedrick Courtney] could have womn that green stocking mask just the

night before.**

iv. Likewise, the prosecutor argued that the red bleached hair likely came from

Courtney because it was “very unusual to find one red bleached hair among numerous Negroid
hairs both in a stocking mask and on the defendant’s head.”

25. Courtney testified and claimed his innocence.*®

a. He argued that Greer misidentified him as the assailant in the black ski mask.>’
b. He also presented three alibi witnesses, who claimed he was with them between
noon and 1 pm on April 6, 1995 — the time during which the offense occurred.”

26. On February 8, 1996, a Tulsa County jury convicted Courtney of robbery with a
firearm and first-degree burglary. The trial judge sentenced him o thirty years in prison.”

IL Post-Conviction Proceedings

27. Courtney has unsuccessfully challenged and collaterally attacked his conviction over
the last sixteen years.

28. In 2000, Courtney’s previous attorney (from the Oklahoma Indigent Defense System)
sought DNA testing on the hairs recovered from both ski masks, but the Tulsa Police Department
(TPD) informed counsel that the hairs had been destroyed.m

29. On April 23, 2001, Courtney contacted the Innocence Project requesting assistance in
obtaining DNA testing to prove his innocence. After obtaining documents and transcripts and

reviewing Courtney’s case, the Innocence Project officially accepted Courtney’s case on
February 5, 2007.

* Id. at 353,

3 NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 354.

% NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 306-22.

*TNT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 362-65.

B NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 256 — 263, 274-82, 290-95, 306-22.
¥ NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 385-86.
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30. On August 17, 2007, undersigned counsel sent a letter to the TPD requesting an
evidence search for the following items of evidence collected in relation to Greer’s robbery and
stored under property receipt number AF-1482:

a. Piece of gray duct tape;

b. Black ski mask;

i. Six slides with hairs and/or fibers mounted from black ski mask;
¢. Green ski mask;
i. Six slides with haits and/or fibers mounted from green ski mask."!

31.In early 2008, the TPD informed undersigned counsel that the aforementioned
evidenced had been destroyed. The TPD, however, did not produce official documentation
identifying when the evidence was destroyed, who authorized its destruction, and under what
authority was the destruction authorized.

32. In September 2011, the Innocence Project — on a whim — contacted the TPD once
more to inquire whether it had the aforementioned evidence. On September 15, 2011, the TPD
informed the Innocence Project it still had the hair slides from the black and green ski masks.

33. Once located, the TPD agreed to send the hair slides to Orchid Cellmark (Celimark)
in Dallas, Texas for DNA testing,* ..

34. On September 22, 2011, Cellmark received the hair slides from the TPD.

a. Cellmark subjected 10 hairs from the black ski mask to mitochondrial DNA testing,
which, as mentioned, was not available when the State prosecuted Courtney.

i. The mitochondrial DNA. results excluded Courtney from all 10 hairs lifted
from the black ski mask.*
ii. More importantly, 9 of the 10 hairs 6riginated from the same donor.**

b. Cellmark subjected 5 hairs from the green ski mask to mitochondrial DNA testing,
including the single bleached red hair that was microscopically consistent with one of Courtney’s
hair samples that the State argued most likely came from Courtney.*

i. The mitochondrial DNA results excluded Courtney from all 5 hairs,

including the single bleached red hair.*

4 goe id.
“2Ex, 11.
“Ex 12
W Lo id
'NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 354.




ii. More importantly, 4 of the 5 hairs originated from the same donor.

c. Cellmark issued its ofﬁciﬁl report on February 24, 2012 and undersigned counsel
received notice of the report (via email} on February 28, 2012.

35. Courtney’s instant petition is based on the exculpatory DNA results from the black
and green ski masks.

a. The mitochondrial DNA results from the black ski mask conclusively demonstrate
Courtney was not the assailant wearing the black ski mask.

b. The mitochondrizil DNA results from the green ski mask also conclusively
demonstrate that he was not the donor of the bleached red hair or the assailant wearing the green
ski mask.

c. Individually and collectively, the exculpatory mitochondrial DNA results
conclusively establish Courtney’s innocence (at best) and undermine all confidence in his
conviction (at worst). Under either scenario, Courtney is entitled to the immediate relief of
having his conviction vacated and a new trial ordered.

III. Arguments
A, Courtney Is Entitled To Post-Conviction Relief Because The Newly-
Discovered Exculpatory DNA Evidence Conclusively Establishes His
Innocence And Undermines All Confidence In His Conviction
36. Courtney’s instant petition is properly filed under the Post-Conviction Procedure Act,
see 22 Okl. St. § 1080, because (1) his conviction and sentence are in violation of the U.S.
Constitution and Oklahoma state law and (2) there are new “material facts” — not previously
presented and heard - that requires vacation of his conviction and sentence in the interest of
justice. |
37. Greer was adamant that Courtney wore the black ski mask,” while the prosecutor
argued that Courtney may have worn or owned the green ski mask because of the bleached red
hair recovered from it that microscopically matched one of Courtney’s hair samples.*®
38. The exculpatory DNA results from the black and green ski masks, however,
conclusively prove that Courtney is innocent because he cannot be the individual who wore the

black ski mask or the green ski mask.

® Ex. 12.
N, Trial, 02/07/96, at 230, 236.
®NT, 02/08/96, at 352-53.




39. The exculpatory DNA results also undermine all confidence in Courtney’s
convictions, meaning his conviction must be vacated and a new trial ordered “in the interest of
justice.” 22 Okl St. § 1080(d).

40.

1. Courtney’s Conviction Rests On Greer’s Identification And The Hair
Evidence Recovered From The Black And Green Ski Masks

41. The State’s case against Courtney rested primarily on Greer’s identification. During
direct examination, the prosecutor asked Greer, “Ma’am, do you realize that this case is largely
dependent on your identification of Mr. Courtney today?,” to which Greer replied, “Yes.”*

a. At trial, Greer was “positive” that Courtney‘ Was the taller assailant who wore the
black ski mask,” !

b. Greer said she recognized Courtney’s voice because she used to live in the same
apattment coraplex as him, and her and her boyfriend, Travis Chambers, used to double-date
with Courtney and his girlfriend.”! !

c. Greer also said that when the taller assailant lifted the base of his black ski mask up
to his eye lids she recognized Courtney’s skin tone and the bag under his eyes.>

d. During closing arguments, the prosecutdr hammered home why Greer’s
identification was reliable — at one point arguing that it was “impossible” for Greer to have
misidentified Courtney.*® The prosecutor also argued that Greer was “100 percent positive that it
was Sedrick Courtney’s voice.”>* ’

42. The State’s case also rested significantly on the hair evidence recovered from the
black and green ski masks. _

a. During closing arguments, the prosecutor acknowledged that the hair evidence was
critical to the State case: “The hair in the stocking mask. Now, this is some key evidence
really.””

b. Carol Cox, the State’s hair expert, said that Courtney could not be excluded from

the black ski mask hairs. ‘

¥ NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 223 (emphasis added),
N, Trial, 02/07/96, at 218, 225, 228,

SUNT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 200-01, 203, 218-219.
3 NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 231, 240.

% 'NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 381.

4 Id, at 348, 349,

% Id. at 351 {(emphasis added).
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c. Cox, moreover, identified a bleached red hair from the green ski mask that was

microscopically similar to a head hair sample voluntarily provided by Courtney.>®

i. During closing arguments the prosecutor s¢ized on this fact to argue that
Courtney either owned the green ski mask or that Courtney’s (unidentified) co-assailant may
have lived with him before Greer's robbéry and that Courtney may have worn the green ski mask
sometime before the robbery.”’

ii. The prosecutor also argued it was unlikely that anyone other than Courtney
7758

had the “same unusual red hairf.
2. Voice Identification, Eyewitness Identification, and Hair
Identification Are Notoriously Unreliable, Particularly When The
Facts In This Case Are Present
43, The evidence used against Courtney is fraught with reliability issues.

a. To begin with, voice identifications “involve grave danger of prejudice” to
defendants. Biggers v. Tennessee, 390 U.S. 404, 408 (1968) (Douglas, J., dissenting). This is
especially true when the person making the voice identification is physically assaulted, pistol-
whipped in the head, repeatedly kicked, threatened with her life, blindfolded with duck tape, and
suffers a traumatic brain injury as a result of her assault.

b. Eyewitness identifications ‘are also wrought with reliability issues. To date, 289
prisoners have been exonerated with  post-conviction DNA  testing,  See

www.innocenceproject.org (last visited March 1, 2012). Of these 289 exonerations, 70%

involved eyewitness misidentification. See id.

i. The unreliability of a witness’s identification increases significantly when
the witness is the actual victim, who is physically assaulted, pistol-whipped in the head,
repeatedly kicked, threatened with her life, blindfolded with duck tape, and who suffers a
traumatic brain injury as a result of her assault.

ii. Greer said she suffered a traumatic brain injury and that she lost “a lot of
brian tissue” as a result of being punched, kicked, and pistol-whipped in the head: “I was

traumatized to the brain, and I still have a scar. I lost a lot of brain tissue.”™’

iii. Greer also said she nearly bled to death as a result of her injuries.”

8 NT, Trial, 02/06/96, at 188-89.
STNT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 352-53.
3 1d. at 354.

S NT, Trial, 02/0:7/96, at 217.
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iv. Greer also testified that she did not see Courtney’s entire face, but only from
his chin to his eyes — but not his eye brows: “I couldn’t see the eyebrow part[.]”*"

v. Greer, moreover, said that when the assailants duct taped her eyes, she could
see nothing because her eyes had filled with blood.®

vi. Greer’s brain injuries were so severe she spent three days in the hospital
recovering.® :

vii, Greer also said that the trauma she suffered prevented her from recalling
how long she played dead for after the assailants left her apartment: “It was a while. I mean the
trauma that I went through, I'm just estimating. 1 don’t know exactly how long I was laying
there.”®*

c. Hair identification is one of the most unreliable forensic identification techniques,
see BRANDON GARRETT, CONVICTING THE INNOCENT: VWHER.E CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS GO
WRONG 98 (2011) (noting that the DNA exoneration cases “provide a large body of examples of
just how unreliable hair comparison can be in practice.”), and Oklahomans know this all too well
because hair misidentifications played a role in Timothy Durham’s wrongful conviction (from
Tulsa),” Calvin Lee Scott’s wrongful conviction (from Tulsa),*® Ron Williamson’s wrongful
conviction (from Ada),”’ Dennis Fritz’s wrongful conviction (from Ada),”® Jeffery Pierce’s
wrongful conviction (from Oklahoma City),¥ David Johns Bryson’s wrongful conviction (from
Oklahoma City),” Curtis McCarty’s wrongful conviction (from Oklahoma City),” Robert
Miller’s wrongful conviction (from Oklahoma City),”” and Thomas Webb’s wrongful conviction
(from Oklahoma City).” ‘

& See id.

' Id. at 218.

6 See id. at 222.

® See id.

* Id. at 243 (emphasis added).

5 http://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Timothy Durham._php.

66 http:/’www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Calvin Lee Scott.php,

7 hitp://www innocenceproject.org/Content/Ron_Williamson. php.

o hittp://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Dennis Fritz.php.

& htp.//www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Jeffrey Pierce.php.

e http://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/David_Johns_Bryson.php.
i http://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Curtis McCarty.php.

 hitp://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Robert Miller.php.

7 http://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/Thomas_Webb.php.
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3. Credibility Or Believability Where The Critical Issues Before the
Jury

44, When the prosecutor questioned Greer, he revealed the critical issue before the jury:
“Do you know what will happen to you if this jury believes your identification?,” to which Greer
ultimately replied, “I feel like justice will be served.”™ The critical issue before the jury,
therefore, was whether it believed Greer’s identification, i.e., whether it found her identification
reliable. How the jury viewed Greer’s identification, furthermore, would have impacted its
assessment of Courtney’s alibi defense. If the jury found Greer’s identification reliable (or
credible), it undoubtedly would have found Courtney’s alibi defense incredible and, presumably,
a fabrication. Moreover, if the jury believed that Courtney fabricated his alibi defense they also,
presumably, would have considered him not only a violent thug, but also a remorseless
psychopath who forced his family members to lie on his behalf in an attempt to subvert the
criminal process. In short, if the jury found Greer’s identification believable (or reliable), such a
finding substantially undercut and prejudiced Courtney’s defense at trial.

45. The prosecutor’s assessment of the critical issue is consistent with the U.S. Supreme
Court’s assessment. According to the U.S. Supreme Court, the “only duty of a jury in cases in
which identification evidence has been admitted will often be to assess the reliability of that
evidence.” Watkins v. Sowders, 449 U.S. 341, 347 (1981) (emphasis in original); accord Perry v.
New Hampshire, 132 S.Ct. 716, 723 (2012) (holding that “state and federal statutes and rules
ordinarily govern the admissibility of evidence, and juries are assigned the task of determining
the reliability of the evidence presented at trial.”); Kansas v. Ventris, 556 U. S. 586, 594, n.
(2009) (*Our legal system.. . is built on the premise that it is the province of the jury to weigh the
credibility of competing witnesses.”).

46. At trial, Courtney’s atiorney tried to diligently expose, through cross-examination and
argument to the jury, factors that called into question the reliability of Greer’s jdentifications.”

47. Trial counsel, however, did not have “contrary evidence,” see Daubert v. Merrell
Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 596 (1993) (observing that “vigorous cross-
examination, [and] presentation of contrary evidence... are the traditional and appropriate means

of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.”) (emphasis added), particularly contrary (and

™ NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 223 (emphasis added).
¥ NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 228-253.
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exculpatory) DNA evidence from the ski masks, to persuade the jury that Greer’s identification
“should be discounted as unworthy of credit.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S.Ct. at 723;
District Attorney’s Office v. Osborne, 129 S.Ct. 2308, 2316 (2009} (“Modern DNA testing can
provide powerful new evidence unlike anything known before.”).

48. Had the jury been informed that DNA testing on the hairs recovered from both the
black and green ski masks not only excluded Courtney, but identified two dominant DNA
profiles from both ski masks, these new facts would have not only altered the jury’s reliability
assessment regarding Greer’s identifications and the State’s hair evidence, they would have also
altered the jury’s credibility assessment regarding Courtney’s alibi defense.

a. Jury instruction #17, for instance, instructed the jury on how it had to approach its
task when considering Courtney’s alibi defense. According to the instruction, “If after careful
consideration of all the evidence in this case the jury enmtertains a reasonable doubt... as to
whether the defendant was in or at the place where the crime was alleged to have been
committed when such crimes were committed, then that jury should give the benefit to the
defendant... and acquit him.”’® Thus, if the jury entertained a reasonable doubt, the jury was
required by law to acquit Courtney. This is a lower standard of beyond a reasonable doubt.”

b. Consequently, if Courtney was in fact the perpetrator who wore the black ski mask,
the jury could have reasonably expected to find his hair on the inside and outside of the black ski
mask. If Couriney could not have contributed the hairs in or on the black ski mask, however, a
properly-instructed jury could easily adhere to the following line of reasoning to acquit
Courtney:

i. The hairs from the black ski masks came from the assailant who wore the
black ski mask when he (and his co-assailant) assaulted and robbed Greer on April 6, 1995.
ii. If DNA testing excluded Courtney as a potential contributor of the hairs in
and on the black ski mask, Courtney cannot be the assailant who wore the black ski mask.
iii. If Courtney is not the assailant with the black ski mask, Greer’s

identification must be incorrect, while Courtney’s alibi defense must be truthful.

S NT, Trial, 02/08/96, at 373 {(quoting defense counsel reading jury instruction #17 to the jury) (emphasis
added).

77 As argued infra, Courtney would be entitled to relief even if the Jjury instruction incorporated the
standard — “beyond a reasonable doubt” — language.
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iv. If Greer’s identification is wrong, and Courtney’s alibi is truthful, Courtney
must be innocent.

v. Based on these findings, a propetly-instructed jury may reasonably enter a
judgment of acquittal in Courtney’s favor believing 100% in his innocence.

vi. This same reasoning applies to the green ski mask as well. If DNA testing
excludes Courtney as a contributor of the hairs lifted from in and on the green ski mask,
including the bleached red hair, this means he cannot be the assailant who wore the green mask.

¢. A properly-instructed jury could also rely on a slightly different line of reasoning to
reach a similar and reasonable conclusion.

i. Greer’s identification has reliability issues, eg., she was physically
assanlted, pistol-whipped in the head, repeatedly kicked, threatened with her life, blindfolded
with duck tape, and suffered a traumatic brain injury. In the absence of exculpatory DNA
evidence, however, these issues are inadequate to warrant an acquittal on Courtney’s behalf.

ii. In light of the exculpatory DNA evidence from the black and green ski
masks, however, the aforementioned reliability concerns obtain new meaning and significance,
increasing the jury’s belief that Greer’s identification is unreliable, that Courtney’s alibi defense
is truthful, and that Courtney should be acquitted. .

iii. Thus, because the State’s case rests entirely on Greer’s identification and the
hair evidence, the doubt generated by the exculpatory DNA evidence and the reliability issues
regarding Greer’s identification is adequate to warrant a judgment of acquittal, even if the jury is
not 100% certain Courtney is innocent.

d. Consequently, there is a reasonable probability that had the newly-discovered
exculpatory DNA evidence been presented to Courtney’s jury, the outcome of his trial would
have been different, i.e., the jury would have acquitted him. In other words, the new exculpatory
DNA evidence puts the State’s case “in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the
verdict.” Kyvles v. Whitley, 514 U.8. 419, 435 (1995).

e. Courtney, therefore, is entitled to have his conviction vacated and a new trial

ordered in the interest of justice.
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4, Courtney Diligently Pursued DNA Testing And For More Than a
Decade The Tulsa Police Department Told Courtney And His
Attorneys That The Physical Evidence Had Been Destroyed
49. Courtney diligently pursued DNA testing and developed the new facts that form the
foundation of his instant petition and constitutional claims.
50. The delay in DNA testing can be directly attributed to the TPD.
a. In October 2000, Tulsa Police Officer R.M. Kurowski informed Couriney’s prior
counsel with the Oklahoma Indigent Defense System that the TPD destroyed the hair samples.™
b. On April 23, 2001, Courtney contacted the Innocence Project requesting assistance
in obtaining DNA testing to prove his innocence. After obtaining documents and transcripts and
reviewing Courtney’s case, the Innocence Project officially accepted Courtney’s case on
February 5, 2007.7
c. On August 17, 2007, undersigned counsel sent a letter to the TPD requesting the
TPD to conduct an evidence search for the following items of evidence collected in relation to
Greer’s robbery and stored under property receipt number AF-1482.%
d. In early 2008, the TPD informed undersigned counsel that the aforementioned
evidenced had been destroyed.
e.In September 2011, when undersigned counsel was in the midst of closing
Courtney’s case, he had his law student, Erik Wilson, contact the TPD one final time to see if it
had located any of the sought-after physical evidence.
51. When the TPD informed undetsigned counsel and Wilson that it had located the hair
evidence, the TPD quickly agreed to send the hair evidence to Cellmark in Dallas, Texas. A
September 16, 2011 memo to Sergeant Kim Presley memorializes Courtney’s quick efforts to

have the hair evidence sent to Cellmark.®!

" Ex. 10.

* The Innocence Project has a significant backlog of cases to review so it takes several vears before it can
determine whether it will officially accept a prisoner’s case. Courts in other Jurisdictions have recognized this
reality when determining whether a prisoner diligently sought post-conviction DNA testing. See Powers v. State,
343 5.W.3d 36, 59 (Tenn. 2011) (“[T]he petitioner is represented by the Innocence Project, an organization which
receives over 3,000 applications seoking assistance each year, and ‘at any given time’ is evatuating between 6,000
and 8,000 potential cases. Based on the number of applications received by the Innocence Project, there may be a
substantial delay between a petitioner’s request for assistance and a decision by the Innocence Project as to whether
the case should be accepted. In light of the demands placed upon the entity representing the petitioner, we find that
the petitioner’s delay in filing his petition for DNA analysis is justified.™).

*Ex. 10.

L Ex. 11.
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52. Cellmark, as mentioned, performed mitochondrial DNA testing, which was not
available when the State prosecuted Courtney. Mitochondrial DNA testing did not become
widely used and generally accepted until the late 1990s. See NAT’L INST. JUST., THE FUTURE OF
FORENSIC DNA TESTING: PREDICTIONS OF THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT WORKING (GROUP
18 (2000).

53. Courtney, as a result, diligently developed the facts that give rise to his instant post-
conviction petition, writ of habeas corpus, and state and federal constitutional claims.

B. Courtney’s Federal Constitutional Claims

1. The New Exculpatory, Non-Match DNA Results Demonstrate that
Courtney’s Conviction Is Premised On Unreliable Identification
Evidence In Violation of His Due Process Rights. U.S. Const. Amends.
VI XIV

54. The facts pled in all previous paragraphs are incorporated herein as if fully pled.

55. The exculpatory DNA results render Courtney’s trial fundamentally unfair under the
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. In the absence of exculpatory DNA results, Courtney did
not have a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. See U.S. Const. Amends. VI,
XIV.

56. Whether “rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment or
in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation Clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution
guarantees criminal defendants ‘a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.””
Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006) (quoting Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683,
690 (1986)) (emphasis added). Courtney, consequently, had a constitutional right to present a
complete defense against Greer’s identifications.

57. As the U.S. Supreme Court recently acknowledged, “The Constitution... protects a
defendant against a conviction based on evidence of questionable reliability, not by prohibiting
introduction of the evidence, but by affording the defendant means fo persuade the jury that the
evidence should be discounted as unworthy of credit.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S.Ct. at 723
(emphasis added). For instance, under the Sixth Amendment, defendants are afforded the right
to counsel, see Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U. 8. 335, 343-345 (1963), the right to compulsory
process, see Taylor v. Hllinois, 484 U, S. 400, 408-409 (1988), and the right to confront and
cross-examine witnesses. See Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 2713-14 (2011);

Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U. 8. 15, 18-20 (1985). In regards to “shaky” testimony, like
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eyewitness testimony, the Supreme Court in Daubert emphasized that “[vligorous cross-
examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof
are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.” Daubert
v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. at 596 (emphasis added); accord Rock v.
Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 61 (1987). “Apart from these guarantees,” however, “state and federal
statutes and rules ordinarily govern the admissibility of evidence, and juries are assigned the
task of determining the reliability of the evidence presented at trial.” Perry v. New Hampshire,
132 S.Ct. at 723.

58. Courtney exercised all three Sixth Amendment rights at his trial, particularly his
rights to counsel and confrontation. Indeed, trial counsel cross-examined Greer in an attempt to
expose certain factors that presumably impacted her memory and perception in such a way to
prevent her from accurately identifying Courtney as her assailant.®

59. That Courtney was able to freely exercise his Sixth Amendment rights to counsel and
confrontation, however, does not mean he had an opportunity to present a “complete defense™ or
that his trial was fundamentally fair. Rather, the critical issue is whether Courtney had the
requisite contrary evidence and technology to persuade the jury, through either argument or
cross-examination, that Greer’s identification should be “discounted as unworthy of credit.”
Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 5.Ct, at 723,

60. Courtney did not because he did not have access to the requisite contrary evidence,
namely, the exculpatory DNA results from the ski mask hairs. Had Courtney had access to this
contrary evidence and technology, trial counsel’s cross-examination of Greer, as well as his
closing arguments to the jury, would have most certainly persuaded the jury to discount her
identification as untrustworthy, which in turn would have resulted in Courtney’s acquittal. Thus,
had Courtney had access to this contrary evidence and technology, there is a reasonable
probability of a different outcome. In other words, in the absence of this contrary evidence,
Courtney’s conviction is worthy of no confidence because the new DNA results put the State’s
case in an entirely different light.

61. Courtney’s case, in many ways, is analogous to the U.S. Supreme Court’s Brady
cases. In a typical Brady-type case, the State withholds (either purposefully or inadveriently)

material evidence (either exculpatory or impeachment) that prejudices the defendant in one or

8 NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 228-253,
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several ways rendering his verdict worthy of no confidence. See Smith v. Cain, 132 S.Ct. 627,
629 (2012) (“A reasonable probability does not mean that the defendant ‘would more likely than
not have received a different verdict with the evidence, only that the likelihood of a different
result is great enough to ‘undermine{] confidence in the outcome of the trial.””) (quoting Kyles v.
Whitley, 514 U. S. at 434). The primary prejudice in Brady cases stem from the defendant’s
inability to present a “complete” defense.r In other words, although the defendant had effective
trial counsel who compelled witnesses to testify on his behalf and cross-examined the State’s
witnesses, in the absence of the undisclosed evidence, the defendant’s right to confrontation,
cross-examination, and compulsory process was not “complete.”

62. A prime example is from the U.S. Supreme Court’s most recent Brady case in Smith
v. Cain, 132 S.Ct. 627 (2012). In Smith, Louisiana charged Smith with killing five people during
an armed robbery. At Smith’s trial, a single witness, Larry Boatner, linked Smith to the crime.
Boatner testified that “he was socializing at a friend’s house when Smith and two other gunmen
entered the home, demanded money and drugs, and shortly thereafter began shooting, resulting
in the death of five of Boatner’s friends.” Id. at 629. At Smith's trial, Boatner identified Smith as
the first gunman to come through the door. He claimed that he had been face to face with Smith
during the initial moments of the robbery. No other witnesses and no physical evidence
implicated Smith in the crime. See id. at 630 (“Boatner’s testimony was the only evidence
linking Smith to the crime.”) (emphasis in original).

63. When Smith sought post-conviction relief, he obtained police files that were not
disclosed prior to trial, including those of lead investigator John Ronquillo. Ronquillo’s s notes
“contain[ed] statements by Boatner that conflict[ed] with his testimony identifying Smith as a
perpetrator.” Jd. at 629. The “notes from the night of the murder state[d] that Boatner ‘could
not... supply a description of the perpetrators other then [sic] they were black males.”” Id.
Ronquillo also made a handwritten account of a conversation he had with Boatner five days after
the crime, in which Boatner said he “could not ID anyone because [he] couldn’t see faces” and
‘would not know them if [he] saw them.”” Id. And Ronquillo’s typewritten report of that
conversation states that Boatner told Ronquillo he “could not identify any of the perpetrators of
the murder.” Id.

64. Although Smith exercised his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, and his trial counsel

confronted and cross-examined Boatner and Detective Ronquillo at trial, the Supreme Court
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nonetheless vacated his conviction, finding that the undisclosed reports undermined all
confidence in Smith’s conviction. See id. at 631. The lack of confidence in Smith’s conviction,
more importantly, is directly related to Smith’s inability to present a “complete” defense at trial.
Indeed, had trial counsel had access to Ronquillo’s reports, his cross-examination of Boatner and
Ronquillo would have significantly undermined their credibility and the State’s case, making it
reasonably probable the jury would have acquitted Smith had it been privy to the undisclosed
“contrary evidence.” Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. at 596. Similarly,
the undisclosed reports may have led to additional witnesses that trial counsel could have
compelled to testify under the Compulsory Process Clause — that would have undermined the
State’s case even more. In other words, having access to the undisclosed, “contrary evidence”
would have enabled Smith’s trial counsel to present a “complete” defense as envisioned by the
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

65.In the end, the U.S. Supreme Court articulated its rule in Brady not to deter
prosecutorial misconduct, ¢f Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465484 (1976) {recognizing that the
Fourth Amendment’s exclusionary rule is specifically aimed at deterring police misconduct, and
not at enhancing the truth-seeking function of the trial),® but to ensure that a miscarriage of
Justice does not oceur. See United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 675 (1985); Cadlifornia v.
Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984). From the Supreme Court’s perspective, the best way to
guarantee fair and accurate convictions is to make certain that criminal defendants have a
meaningful opportunity to present a “complete defenise” and the only way to present a
“complete” defense is to have full disclosure and access to all material facts and contrary
evidence:

The need to develop all relevant facts in the adversary system is both fundamental
and comprehensive. The ends of criminal justice would be defeated if judgments
were to be founded on a partial or speculative presentation of the facts. The very
integrity of the judicial system and public confidence in the system depend on full
disclosure of all the facts[.]

United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 709 (1974) (emphasis added); accord United States v.
Nobles, 422 U.S. 225, 230 (1975).

B The U.S. Supreme Court makes no distinction between bad faith and accidental discovery violations, See
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). This reinforces the notion that the principle harm in Brady cases is not
. the malevolent or dishonest attitude of the State or law enforcement, but rather a defendant’s inability to have a
meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.
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66. In Courtney’s case, we have an analogous situation. In Smith, the petitioner obtained
newly-discovered evidence in post-conviction proceedings that the prosecution withheld prior to
trial. Here, Courtney obtained newly-discovered evidence in post-conviction proceedings that
was withheld from him, not because of prosecutorial wrongdoing, but because science did not
advance quickly enough. The type of DNA testing used to reveal the DNA profile on the ski
mask hairs, mitochondrial DNA testing, was not available at the time of Courtney’s trial in 1996
and only became generally accepted and routinely used in the scientific community in the late
1990s.

67. Like the undisclosed, contrary evidence in Smith and other Brady cases, the new
contrary and exculpatory DNA evidence demonstrates that Courtney did not have a meaningful
opportunity to present a “complete defense” and that his conviction is worthy of no confidence
because, at this point, it is based on a “partial... presentation of the facts.” United States v.
Nixon, 418 U.S. at 709, and the new DNA results put the State’s case in an entirely different
light.

68. Again, the U.S. Supreme Court’s comment in Daubert, that the “appropriate” way to
attack “shaky but admissible evidence™ is to present “contrary evidence,” 509 U.S. at 596, cannot
be overemphasized. Here, the contrary (scientific) evidence needed to present a complete
defense was not available until well after Courtney’s conviction. The new contrary (scientific)

37

evidence, however, will finally allow Courtney to present a “complete” defense and
meaningfully argue to a jury that Greer’s identification is worthy of no credit and that there is
sufficient doubt to enter a judgment of acquittal in Courtney’s favor.

69. Likewise, had Courtney’s trial attorney had access to the exculpatory DNA results
prior to trial, he could have moved to exclude Greer's identification at a pre-trial reliability
hearing, arguing that the DNA results demonstrate that her identification is unreliable and
inadmissible under the Due Process Clause. See Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972) (*Tt is
the likelihood of a misidentification which violates a defendant’s right to due process... .”);
Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977); Simmons v. United States, 390 U. 8. 377 (1968).

Had Greer’s identification been excluded, the State had no case because its entire case was

dependent on her identification.®*

¥ NT, Trial, 02/07/96, at 223,
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70. Courtney, therefo;"e, is entitled to a new trial so he may present a “complete” defense
and a jury of his peers can accurately assess — in light of the new contrary (scientific) evidence —
the credibility and reliability of Greer’s identification. See Kansas v. Ventris, 556 U. S. at 594, n.
(“Our legal system... is built on the premise that it is the province of the jury to weigh the
credibility of competing witnesses.”). As the U.S. Supreme Court stated a half-century ago:
“The jury’s estimate of the truthfulness and reliability of a given witness may well be
determinative of guilt or innocence[.]” Napue v. HHlinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269 (1959). Here, there
is no doubt that the new DNA results substantially undermine the reliability of Greer’s testimony
and identification.

71. Courtney is entitled to relief.

2. The New Exculpatory DNA Results Demonstrate that Courtney’s

Conviction Is Premised On Unreliable Identification Evidence In
Violation of His Due Process Rights, U.S. C-:mstj Amends. VL, XTIV

72. The facts pled in all previous paragraphs are incorporated herein as if fully pled.

73. The exculpatory DNA results demonstrate that Greer’s identification is unreliable and
inadmissible under the Due Process Clause. See Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972) (“It is
the likelihood of a misidentification which violates a defendant’s right to due process... .”);
Stmmons v. United States, 390 U. S. 377 (1968).

74. The introduction of their unreliable identifications rendered Courtney’s entire trial
fundamentally unfair. See Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977); Dowling v. United States,
493 U.8. 342, 352 (1990).

75. Courtney is entitled to relief,

3. The New Exculpatory, Non-Match DNA Results Demonstrate That
The State of Oklahoma Convicted And Innocent Person And His
Continned Custody and Liberty Restraints Violate His Due Process
and Eighth Amendment Rights. U.S, Const. Amends. VI, VIII, XIV
76. The newly-discovered DNA results establish that Courtney is actually innocent and
that his continued custody and liberty restraints violate his due process rights and right to be free
of cruel and unusual punishment. See U.S. Cont. Amends. VI, X111, XIV; Schulp v. Delo, 513

U.S. 298 (1995); House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 518, 538 (2006).
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77. Courtney is on parole and has been since 2010. As a parolee he is still in the custody
of the Oklahoma Department of Corrections and his liberty is restrained as a result of being a
parolee.
78. Courtney is entitled to relief.
III. Request and Prayer For Relief
79. WHEREFORE Courtney respectfully requests the Court to grant the following relief: i
a. A timely hearing on his petition;
b. If the State intends to file a written response to Courtney’s petition, an order
compelling the State to file its response (or answer) as soon as possible so the parties can present

their issties and arguments to the Court;

¢. An order vacating Courtney’s conviction;
d. An order compelling the State to timely retry Courtney in accordance with state
law — assuming it chooses to retry Courtney; and
e. Any other order the Court feels is necessary in the interests of justice to protect
Courtney’s state and federal constitutional rights. |
Respectfully submitted this the 6" day of March, 2012 i
|
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Innocence Project
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Oklahoma Bar # 11947
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troci@icox.net

Date: March 6, 2012
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VERIFICATION

I, Richard O’Carroll, do hereby swear and attest that the Petitioner has read the foregoing
application and assignment(s) of error and he advised me and I hereby state under oath that there
are no other grounds upon which he wishes to attack the judgment and sentence under which he
am presently convicted. He has further been advised that he cannot later raise or assert any
reason or ground known to him at this time or which could have been discovered by him by the
exercise of reasonable diligence. He has further been advised that he is aware he is not entitled

to file a second or subsequent application for post-conviction relief based upon facts within his

knowledge or which he could discover with reasonable diligence at this time.

. L//,(: {
Richard O’Carroll, Attorney for Petitioner

My Commission Expires: §-7)-/4/

030/ 34 |



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

A true and correct file-stamped copy of the foregoing docoment was delivered to
[ &

Tim Harris, District Attorney, 500 S. Denver, 9" Floor, Tulsa, OK 74103 on Marchf 2012.

Richard O Clarroll
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P ot il AU e o ol bk ey § vt b, A AGL Ui Wk AT Il
STATE OF DKLAIOMA, ) ) s "
e d - } hd
Plaintiff, }
e Cedric R. Courtney ; Case No.
' }
- )
_— )
Defendanifs). }

AFEIDAVIT
STATE OF GKLATIOMA  } :

)12

COUNTY GFTULSA' )

The undersigned, of lawful age, belng first duly sworn, vpon oath deposes and stuies as foliown!

1. He o, detective with the Tulsa Police Department assigned to the Robbery Detail,

2. B8 has read certaln official jnvestigative reports and statements of wilnesses regarding the above named Delendant(s) wnd, fram
theae statemenis and reports it appears 15 follows:

Shemita Greer stated that on §-6-95, at the location of 4019 South 130th East Avenue,
Apartment 1715, which is Jocated in the City and County of Tulsa, Oklahoma, Cedric R.
Courtney and an unknown black male forced theif way into her apartment. Ms, Grger
stated that Courtney kicked her locked frunt door open as she sat on her sofa.
. Ms. Greer stated that Courtney held onto the frame of the door as he kicked it open.
- Lourtnay and the unknown suspect entered the apartment and pointed a pistol at

Es. Greer's head and yelled, "Where's the loot, bitch? Is Travis here? We'l] shoot
im, tou."

Ms. Greer stated that she was afraid that the suspects would k111 her and her four-
month-01d niece. Ms. Greer stated that the baby was grying, and she begged the
suspects not tg hurt the haby, ,

The suspects knocked Ms. Greer to the floor, and Courtney went to the bedroom while
-the unknown suspect held her down on the floor by her halr, The unknown suspect began,
to hit Ms. Greer in the face with his fist and stated, “Bitch, if you don't get me Some
money, 1'm going to blow your fucking head off."

Courtney came back inte the 1iving room and had Ms. &reer's purse. Hhen she Tooked up,
Courtnay said, "Look down, don't Took up. If you do, we're going to ki1l you." :
Courtney began pouring the contents of Greer's purse out, and she could feel the
contents hitting ker on the head, .

Ms. Greer stated the unknown suspect pulled out some wide silver tape, grabbed her

by the hair, and gave the gun to Courtney. The mask on Courtney apparently was getting
hot because he flipped it up to where he was exposing parts of his face to where she
could see the skin color, and it was the same complexion of Courtnéy, whom she has
known for about three years. '

pver
MIE(}lEFogE. alfian! prays this Nonorable Court 1o Issue @ wareand for the arrest of the within named Defendani{s), that hefthe/ihey
may be brought before 3 maglsirate and held to answer for the offensc(s) of . Atmed Rohbery

Dot DD

: AFFIANT  Det. A. R. McDonald
Subsceibed 2nd swarn ta before e !hi:l‘Hh day of mﬂd‘ 19923

My commalssion expires Ll-DOl'q"J’ J Lm@lﬂf\.ﬂ_ L \3&\&5{_”
’ rutlon expie . Notary Publi¢ \-)

FINDING OF PROBABLE CAUSE

L3

On 1his day of -
signed Judge of the Distriet Court of Tuiss County, Oklahoma, wpan Hie Alhdavit of Det, A, B. McOonald
requesting thel & waan of 'é"ﬁt be frsued for the within named Defendant(s], that hefshefihey might be avesied and held to answer
for the affense(s) of rtied Robbery .

) 1% oem the sbove siyled and numbereg cause came on for Imiing before me, the under-

Based upon said Affidavit 1 am satisfied and do hereby find hat the offense(s) of __Armed Robbery

hasfhave been commibtied and that tvere it probable sause 10 belfeve (e within named Defendant(s) hasfhave commiited sald offense(s) and
that 2 warranl of arrest should fssue,” : ‘

Tated this dzy of 19—




n

i

The unknown suspect began to tape her head on down to her nose. Ms. Greer was
‘thkn hit inthezhead with the gun and began to bleed profusely from the head.

Ms. Greer could feel her bloocd flow down her face.as her body went limp. Ms. Greer
stated that she played dead so that the suspacts would not beat her anymore.

M;. Gr‘ee; stated she held her breath to make Courtney and the other suspect think
she was dead. : :

The baby had stopped crying, so she thought they had taped the baby's mouth,

Ms. Greer could not move because she could sti11 Hear movement in her apartment.
Then she felt a hand on her neck, and the voice that she recognized as Cedric
Courtney said, “You killed the bitch. Fuck the bitch." The victim then felt a
hard kick to the back of her head, Ms. Greer laid on the floor for about three
minutes until she felt & cool breeze over her face. She removed the tape from
he!i* face and saw her door standing open, and found the baby on the sofa. She then
called 911, :

The suspects had taken $397.00 from Ms. Greer's purse and tires and rims that were
in her kitchen that belonged to her boyfriend. Ms. Greer stated that she and her -
boyfriend used to go out and eat together with Courtney and his girlfriend, and
Ms. Greer stated that Courtney had besn to her apartment within the last week to-
visit her boyfriend, Travis Chambers, and he had seen the wheels in the kitchen

of her apartment. e

Ms. Greer statad that the man that kicked her door in was the same build.as.
Courtney, and the voice she heard on 4-6-95, was Cedric Courtney.

Ms. Greer was transported to St. Francis Emergency Room by EMSA for medical
treatment, and the attending physician was {r. Workman.
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TULSA POLICE DEPARTMENT
SUPPLEMENTARY OFFENSE REPORT

VICTIM: GREER SHEMITA RENEE File No., 624133 -

ADDRESS: 4019 S0. 130TH E. AVE. APT. 1715
PHONE: £564-7421

CRIME TYPE: ARMED ROBBERY

LOCATIQN;4019 SO. 130TH E. AVE. APT. 1715
DATE: 4/0b/95

SUSPECT: CEDRIC R. COURTNEY B/M DOB 01/14/72 TPD 140757

SYVOPSIS THE VICTIM SHEMITA GREELR STATES THAT ON 04/06/95

AT THE LOCATION OF 4019 S0. 130TH E. AVE. APT. 1?%5 WHICH 1Is
LOCATED .IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF TULSA OKLAHOMA, CEDRIC
CGUR”NLY AND A UNKNOWN BLACK MALE FORCED THEIR WAS ‘INTO HER
KPARTMENT.

M2. GREER STATES THAT COURTNEY KICKED HER LOCKED FRONT DOOR
OFPEN AS SHE SAT ON HER SOFA. GREER STATES THAT COURTNEY HELD
ONTO THE FRAME OF THEE DOOR AS HE KICKED IT OPEN. COURTNEY AND
TRE UNKNCOWN SUSPECT ENTERED THE APARTMENT AND POINTED A

PISTOL AT MS5. GREERS HEAD AND YILLED " WHERES THE LOOT
BITCH? IS TRAVIS HZRE ? WE'LL SHOOT HIM TO ". M3. GREZER
STATES THAT 5dE WAS AFRAID THAT THE SUSFECT'S WOULD KILL HER
AND HEIR FQUR MONTH OLD NIECE. MS. GREZR STATES THAT THE BABY
WAE CRYING, GREEX BEIGGED THE SUSPECT'S NOT TO .HURT THE BABY.
THE SUSPXECT'S KNOCKED THE VICTIM T0 THE FLOOR, COURTNEY WENT
T0 THEZ BEDROOM WHILE THE UNKNOWN SUSPECT HEILD HER DOWN ON THE
FLOOR BY HER HAIR. -

THE UNKNOWN SUSPECT ZEGAN TO EIT TRE VICTIM IN THE FACE WITH
HIS FIST, AND STATED “BITCH IF YOU DON'T GET MZ SOME MONEY
1'M GOING TO 3LOW TOUR FUCKING HEAD OFF". COURTNIY CAME BACK
INTC TRE LIVING ROCM AND HE HAD GREIZIRS PURSE, AND WHEN SHE
LOCKED (P THE ZUSPECT COURTNEY SAID "LUOK DOWN DON'T LOOK UP
iF YOU DO W2RZ GUOING TO XKILL YOU". COURTNZY BEGAN DOURING THE
CONTENTS OF GRZEIRS PURSE QUT, AND SHE COULD FEIZlL THE CONTENTS
HITTING HER ON THE HZAD.

THE VICTIM STATEZ THAT THE UNKNOWN SUSPECT PULLED OUT SOMZ
WiDZ SILVER TAPE, AND GRABBED HER BY THE HAIR, AND GAVE THE
GUN TGO COURINEY. THEZ MASK ON COURTNEY PFARENTLY WAS GETTING
H0T BECAUSE HE rFLIPPED IT UP TO WHERE HE WAS EZPCUSING PARTS
OF HIE FACE TO WHERZ SHE COULD SEE THE SKIN COLOR, AND IT WAS
THE SAME COMPLEXION OF COURTNEY WHOM SHE Hi3 XNOWN FOR ABOUT
THRIE YEARS.

THZ UNXNOWN SUSPEZCT BEGAN TO TAPE HEIR HIAD, N DOWN TO HEI:
NOSEZ. MS. GREER WAS THEN KIT IN THE HIAD WITH THE GUN AND
EEGAN TQ BLEED PROFUSILY FROM THE HEAD. ME. GREER COULD FEEL
RER BLO0D ?LGW DOWN RER FACE, A5 HZR BODY WENT LIMP. MS.GREIER
STATES THAT SAE PLAYZD DEZAD SO THAT THE SUSPECT'S WOULD NOT
BEAT HER ANxMQRE




